BELIEF ABOUT PORNOGRAPHY USE AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH COUPLE SATISFACTION, SEXUAL SATISFACTION, AND ACTIVE-EMPATHIC LISTENING: AN EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS

By

Jordan Shuler

Bachelor of Science in Family Studies

Weber State University

Ogden, Utah

2018

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December, 2021

BELIEF ABOUT PORNOGRAPHY USE AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH COUPLE SATISFACTION, SEXUAL SATISFACTION, AND ACTIVE-EMPATHIC LISTENING: AN EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS

Thesis Approved:	
Dr. Matthew Brosi	
Thesis Adviser	
Dr. Nathan Hardy	
Dr. Brandt Gardner	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would be remiss if, in submitting this thesis to be reviewed by my committee and later to the broader university community, I did not first take a moment to acknowledge the unerring support of several individuals involved directly and indirectly in the development, editing, and finalizing of this document. First, my thesis advisor Dr. Brosi, whose open door, open smile, and open mind patiently watched and supported me as I stumbled from the early conceptualization of the research represented in this thesis to the final product you are reading now. Second, the other members of my thesis committee Dr. Hardy and Dr. Gardner, who opened their schedules for me to ask questions and who provided their valuable time and expertise to expand the horizons that I dared try to cross in doing this project. Third, Dr. Washburn who, though not a part of my thesis committee, was generous enough to answer my questions and hear me struggle though conceptualizations regarding statistical analyses time and time again without complaint. I would also be unappreciative if I didn't mention my sister-in-law, the brilliant Shay Shuler, who sat with me in many virtual writing sessions, offering her encouragement and wisdom repeatedly in the process. Furthermore, though not providing direct feedback on my thesis, the members of my program cohort deserve my thanks for the countless times they heard me lament about my writing and conceptualization woes in developing this thesis, and who gave their empathy and encouragement without condition or expectation of reciprocation. Countless other family members and friends have also supported me in the journey to this point in my development, and continue to support me as I grow into the next phase of my abilities as an academic. Finally, and also most significantly, I want to thank my life partner and spouse, Stormy Shuler, who has always been and continues to be my greatest friend, first editor, and most undying supporter. Every line of this thesis has been supported, both through her efforts as an unofficial editor and through her kindness, patience, and encouragement, by this powerful and breathtaking woman. Thank you Stormy, and thank you to all.

Name: JORDAN SHULER

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2021

Title of Study: BELIEF ABOUT PORNOGRAPHY USE AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH COUPLE SATISFACTION, SEXUAL SATISFACTION, AND ACTIVE-EMPATHIC LISTENING: AN EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS

Major Field: HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND FAMILY SCIENCE

Abstract: Pornography use and relationship outcomes have been studied through multiple frameworks and with numerous associated factors, including beliefs held regarding pornography use. To further clarify and test the association between belief regarding pornography use and relationship outcomes, including couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening, two phases of analyses were conducted, using symbolic interaction theory to underpin the analyses. Using a sample of 182 (N = 182)individuals in romantic relationships who experience the use of pornography within the context of their romantic partnership, a MANCOVA test, and three ANCOVA analyses were conducted. Dummy coded variables derived from qualitative research, comprising a portion of the same larger dataset, were utilized as an independent grouping variable and included three groups; those who reported beliefs that pornography use was beneficial, detrimental, and ineffectual to their relationships respectively. Dependent variables included couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening, and participant gender and relationship status were added as covariates. No significance was detected in the MANCOVA test, or in the three ANCOVA tests, however significance was detected in the association of the covariate relationship status and sexual satisfaction, and for the covariate of gender and active-empathic listening. The placement of these findings within the broader literature, their limitations, and their implications and potential questions for future research are discussed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Differential Associations of Pornography Use, Couple Satisfac	tion and Sexual
Satisfaction	
Pornography, Communication, and Empathy	
Meaning and Pornography Use	11
Symbolic Interaction Theory	
The Present Study	
The Tresent Study	12
III. METHODOLOGY	14
Sample	15
Measures	
Belief Regarding Pornography Use	
Couple Satisfaction	
Sexual Satisfaction	
Active-Empathic Listening	
Control Variables	
Plan of Analysis.	
Phase 1 Hypothesis	
Phase 2 Hypotheses	
Phase 3 Hypotheses	
IV. FINDINGS	22
Preliminary Analyses	22
Testing for Multicollinearity	22
Testing for Normality of Distributions	
Testing for Homogeneity of Variance	
Analyzing Control Variable Associations	
Testing for Homogeneity of Regression Slopes	

Chapter	Page
Phase 1 Analysis	26
Phase 2 Analyses	27
Post-hoc Analysis	27
V. CONCLUSION	29
Limitations and Future Directions	31
Conclusion	32
REFERENCES	35
APPENDICES	44

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Kolmogorov–Smirnov Test of Normality	44
2. Results of Multivariate Analysis of Covariance Using Pillai's Trace	
3. Results of the Analyses of Covariance	46

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Viewing or otherwise consuming sexually explicit material, commonly referred to as pornography, is widespread in the United States among individuals of differing genders, racial identities, and sexual orientations (Daspe, 2018; Rothman et al., 2015; Træen & Daneback, 2013; Wright, 2013). The virtually ubiquitous availability of smart phones and internet access (Vogels, 2019) means that pornography is readily available to consumers. In one sample, a large majority of adult men and women, 98% and 73% respectively, had consumed pornography within the previous six months (Daspe et al., 2018) and in a different sample 50% of casually dating men reported using pornography weekly (Carroll et al., 2017). The consumption of sexually explicit material isn't a new phenomenon, and pornography use has been researched and debated in public policy circles for decades with both proponents and critics of its consumption, along with a myriad of associations investigated along with its use (Rassmussen, 2016).

In some samples, pornography use has been related to risky sexual behavior bidirectionally (Træen & Daneback, 2013), positively associated with loneliness (Butler et al., 2018), associated with increases in the likelihood of engaging in non-consensual extradyadic sexual behavior (Ferron et al., 2016; Lambert et al., 2012), and a decreased likelihood of individuals reporting a willingness to intervene when witnessing sexual assault (Foubert et al., 2011). On the other hand, adolescents have identified pornography use as a means of gaining understanding of themselves and potential

sexual partners (Attwood et al., 2018; Scarcelli, 2015). It has also been argued that the evolution and use of pornography has been the bridge between the gap of changes in discourse around sex during the sexual revolution, and the actual expansion of sexual acts in the lives of couples and individuals (Escoffier, 2014).

In expanding the scope of investigation across broader samples, findings in reviews and meta-analyses that, all told, include thousands of research participants – and include cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses – have identified associations between pornography use and lower relational and sexual satisfaction for many, but not all, participants (Newstrom & Harris, 2016; Wright et al., 2017). The direction of this association and the mechanisms through which it impacts couple and individual outcomes is the subject of ongoing research. For example, in one sample the association between pornography use and relational satisfaction was partially mediated through a decrease in partner's self-esteem (Stewart & Szymanski, 2012), in contrast to a separate analysis in which pornography use and sexual and relational satisfaction were mediated through masturbation (Miller et al., 2019). The complexities and contradictions in the findings related to pornography use continue to necessitate more varied, sophisticated, and nuanced studies of pornography use.

One criticism of the research on the impacts of pornography use, is that much of it has been conducted on individuals as opposed to dyads (Campbell & Kohut, 2017). While many people utilize pornography individually for masturbation and personal sexual pleasure (Bridges & Morokoff, 2011; Miller et al., 2019) its dyadic associations with couple outcomes have been documented (Brown et al., 2017; Muusses et al., 2015; Poulsen et al., 2013). Indeed, dyadic factors such as honesty regarding pornography use (Resch & Alderson, 2014) and the variance in a partner's sexual satisfaction by an individual's use of pornography, as well as by the variance between rates of use within a partnership (Brown et al., 2017) support the utility of studying pornography in the context of dyads in romantic relationships.

The meaning that individuals ascribe to pornography use also appears to be a meaningful aspect of the way pornography use is experienced. In more actively religious individuals, higher rates of pornography use is more likely to be reported as an addiction and more likely to be accompanied by a sense of shame (Volk et al., 2016). For some women, their enjoyment of pornographic material varies depending on whether they perceive the female actors involved to be enjoying themselves (Parvez, 2006) and many individuals report experiencing benefits of pornography for their romantic relationships (Kohut et al., 2017) or as a force driving their sexual empowerment (Weinberg et al., 2010). Even what is considered to be pornography varies between individuals, with some individuals reporting that graphic depictions of adults engaged in sexual intercourse with genitals being shown as definitely not pornography, and others reporting that individuals posing provocatively in swimsuits definitely is pornography (Willoughby & Busby, 2016).

Utilizing symbolic interaction theory (Blumer, 1969; LaRossa & Reitzes 1993), the present study seeks to expand the literature on the nuances of the associations of pornography use and relational factors by examining them as they vary by the beliefs held regarding pornography use by individuals who have a member within their romantic relationships who uses pornography. Specifically, this study will analyze a group of 182 individuals in romantic relationships, and examine first whether differences exist between groups of individuals who express a belief that pornography use is beneficial for relationships, those who believe pornography use is detrimental for relationships, and those who do not believe pornography use impacts relationships, on three relationship factors. The specific factors that will be examined will be couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening. If group differences are identified, further investigation will be conducted to determine where and in what direction the associations lie, with the hypothesis that those who believe pornography use is beneficial for their relationships

will experience higher couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening than other groups.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

It has been proposed that pornography use is associated with reductions in satisfaction within couple relationships (Maas et al., 2018), in sexual satisfaction (Leonhardt & Willoughby, 2019), increases in secret extra-relational sexual or romantic relationships (Gwinn et al., 2013), and some individuals report experiencing a difficulty regulating their frequency of pornography use even when disapproving of pornography use (Volk et al., 2016). On the other hand, pornography use has also been found to be associated with increases in couple sexual satisfaction (Brown et al., 2017), relational satisfaction for women (Perry, 2017), and has been described as a conduit to enhancing the relationship dynamic between couples and as a way that women can gain empowerment and representation in an industry that largely privileges male sexual pleasure and experiences (Ashton et al., 2018; Fritz & Paul, 2017; García-Favaro, 2015; Weinberg et al., 2010).

This complexity, and the contradictory findings within the scientific literature, have led researchers to examine what situations, populations, and interactional components explain the differing associations between pornography use and outcomes in couple's satisfaction within the relational and sexual components of their relationships. Many individuals utilize pornography for personal sexual pleasure (Bridges & Morokoff, 2011; Carvalheira et al., 2015) or as a form of education or idea generating media to inform their sexual interactions with romantic partners

(Kohut et al., 2017; Pariera, 2015). Others use pornography with their romantic partners (Carroll et al., 2017) or at the request of or in an attempt to understand a romantic partner (Scarcelli, 2015). In some samples, individual pornography use by men is associated with lower satisfaction in romantic relationships, while joint use of pornography is associated with increases in couple sexual satisfaction (Willoughby & Leonhardt, 2018) highlighting that context of pornography use, both context as gender and context as partnered versus individual use, may be influential in any possible impacts of pornography use.

Many of the studies conducted on the associations between pornography use and individual and relational wellbeing have utilized cross-sectional designs (Newstrom & Harris, 2016) and, consequently, the identified associations should be interpreted with caution. In such studies that have identified connections between pornography use and diminished relational or sexual satisfaction (Jafarzadeh Fadaki, & Amani, 2015; Leonhardt & Willoughby, 2019) it is as plausible that pornography use influences an individual in a way that impacts their relational satisfaction as it is that those with lower relational satisfaction are more likely to use pornography. It is also possible that links between pornography use and measures of wellbeing are partially or largely explained through other, less explored variables.

Qualitative analyses on pornography use have highlighted nuanced beliefs held regarding pornography use. Some individuals express beliefs that using pornography allows for learning new sexual positions to use with a romantic partner or to increase the sense of erotic climate before a sexual encounter with their partner (Shuler et al., 2021). Some teens have described using pornography use to educate themselves about sexual intercourse, and others describe receiving requests from sexual partners to view a certain video to the end of attempting to reenact the portrayed scene with their partner (Scarcelli, 2015). Adding to the complexity, when asked about the impacts of pornography use on relationships many respondents report "no negative effects" (Kohut et al., 2017) or report "no effect" (Shuler et al., 2021).

In longitudinal analyses, the complexities of pornography use and couple and relational satisfaction continue to be evident. In one sample of heterosexual newlyweds, pornography use predicted a decrease in relationship satisfaction for men, and men's sexual satisfaction was negatively related to their female partner's later use of pornography, but no other significant associations (Muusses et al., 2015). In contrast, a separate analysis identified negative associations between pornography use and later relationship satisfaction for both men and women, with the exception of women who used pornography more than once a month, in which case pornography use predicted increases in relationship satisfaction (Perry, 2017). These variations in associations between pornography use and couple and relational satisfaction highlight the need for further exploration of what factors underpin the relationship between pornography use and satisfaction in couple relationships and sexual satisfaction and in what contexts these associations arise.

Differential Associations of Pornography Use, Couple Satisfaction, and Sexual Satisfaction

One of the complexities of the relationships between pornography use and relational outcomes, is that the direction of the association has been found in some instances to vary by the gender of the participant (Perry, 2017; Wright et al., 2017). Furthermore, the influences of an individual's pornography use on a partner and on the overall relationship also vary by the gender of the participant (Bridges, & Morokoff, 2011). For men, pornography use is bi-directionally associated with satisfaction in intimate relationships (i.e. pornography use both predicts and is predicted by decreases in relationship satisfaction), though not for women (Muusses et al., 2015). Men's use of pornography also predicts a decrease in the sexual quality of both men and women in a relationship, and sexual quality is in turn associated with both men and women's relationship satisfaction (Poulsen et al., 2013). Women's use of pornography is sometimes associated with an increase in the sexual quality of her relationship (Poulsen et al., 2013) and sometimes with a decrease in her sexual satisfaction (Brown et al., 2017). Women's use of pornography is also

associated with an increase in men's relationship and sexual satisfaction (Bridges, & Morokoff, 2011) and an increase in the sexual satisfaction of the couple (Brown et al., 2017).

Amount of pornography consumed has also been investigated as a component of the relationship between pornography use and relational outcomes. A difference in the amount of pornography consumption between men and women in heterosexual relationships predicts decreases in the quality of communication for both men and women, decreases in female sexual desire, and increases in male relational aggression (Willoughby et al., 2016). Female sexual desire is in turn positively associated with both men and women's relationship quality and stability. For men, the relationship between amount of pornography used and relational satisfaction was negative, with rates higher than once a month relating to lower satisfaction than use of less than once a month and daily use associated with the lowest sample rates of relationships satisfaction (Perry, 2017).

The experience of some individuals having a relatively high rate of pornography use, and some reporting it as akin to an addictive behavior, have also led researchers to examine associations between perceived pornography addiction and relational factors. Perceived addiction to pornography has been discussed and reported in multiple examinations of pornography use (e.g. Blais-Lecours et al., 2016; Daspe et al., 2018; Taylor, 2020; Volk et al., 2016). It is worth noting, however, that pornography addiction, sex addiction, and hypersexual disorder do not appear in the DSM 5 as classifications of mental disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Furthermore, attempts to add a hypersexual disorder to the DSM 5 were met with criticisms, noting a lack of empirical literature supporting the inclusion of sex addiction or hypersexual disorder as disordered behavior or as meeting the criteria of mental disorders (Reid & Kafka, 2014).

In some instances, however, concepts such as pornography addiction have been compared to other persistent behaviors that are difficult to regulate but which also do not appear in established diagnosable criteria (Taylor, 2020). Some individuals report perceptions of experiencing difficulty regulating their use of pornography, or report that their use is distressing, and clinicians have noted that some clients report that they feel that their pornography use is out of control or disruptive to their relationships (Reid & Kafka, 2014; Volk et al., 2016). Individuals who report problematic patterns of use with pornography have a similar neural response to desiring versus liking pornographic stimuli as neural responses in individuals who experience substance addiction (Voon et al., 2014). Furthermore, perceived addiction to pornography use is related to increased sexual functioning problems (Blais-Lecours et al., 2016) and at a use of daily or more often, pornography use is associated with reductions in relationship satisfaction (Harper & Hodgins, 2016). That this relationship may be reciprocal or have a reverse direction of association is highlighted by Daspe et al., (2018) who identified a relationship between lower relationship and sexual satisfaction and a feeling that pornography use is out of control.

In relationships where men and women use pornography together, women's pornography use predicts an increase in the quality of the sexual relationship for both men and women (Poulsen et al., 2013) and joint pornography use is associated with an increase in couple sexual satisfaction (Willoughby & Leonhardt, 2018), and a decrease in distress in regards to their partner's pornography use (Resch, & Alderson, 2014). Another mechanism explored in the association between pornography use and relational outcomes is the influence pornography has on evaluations of one's partner. In an experimental study, viewing sexually explicit material related to an increase in participant's positive evaluation of their own sexual behavior and a desire to be sexually closer to a romantic partner in the aftermath of exposure (Staley & Prause, 2013). In contrast, pornography use in other samples has been correlated with lower commitment to a romantic partner (Lambert et al., 2012), and participants who viewed pornography in a

second experimental study were more likely to engage in extradyadic behavior 12 weeks after the first wave of data collection through the mediator of increased attractiveness of alternatives to the current romantic partner (Gwinn et al., 2013).

It is evident from the seeming contradictions in findings around pornography use and the contextual factors that are associated with differential findings, that further investigations into the associations between pornography use and couple satisfaction and sexual satisfaction is warranted. One facet of romantic relationships that has received relatively little attention as it relates to pornography use and its associations with relationships is communication. Previous research has established that couples who use pornography regularly together, and couples who do not use pornography, had similar levels of open sexual communication and experiences of closeness while those who use pornography individually had lower levels of open sexual communication (Kohut et al., 2018). Furthermore, male pornography use is associated with lower male positive communication (Willoughby & Leonhardt, 2018) and discrepancies in how often partners utilize pornography also relates to lower positive communication (Willoughby et al., 2016).

Pornography, Communication, and Empathy

These findings suggest that pornography use and communication have a relation with one another, but like other aspects of pornography use the direction of association remains unclear. Communication, particularly empathic communication, has previously been established as a factor associated with relationship satisfaction (Cramer & Jowett, 2010; Hiew et al., 2016). Perceived empathy in romantic relationships is associated with increases in relationship satisfaction and a decrease in relational conflict (Cramer & Jowett, 2010), and empathic concern likewise predicts increases in relationship satisfaction (Łada & Kaźmierczak, 2019). That the *perception* of empathy, rather than the use of empathy itself, at least partially accounts for its

association with relationship satisfaction highlights the importance of ascribed meanings in romantic relationships. This same factor may have further salience for the study of pornography use and couple outcomes.

Meaning and Pornography Use

It has been hypothesized that participants' views on pornography would influence pornography consumption's impact on relationships (Poulsen et al., 2013; Szymanski et al., 2015). Results from analysis have been mixed. While controlling for factors such as education and religiosity of the sample, Brown et al., (2017) found that a couple's level of mutual opinion of the acceptability of using pornography predicted the levels of pornography use for both members of the relationship. Each partner's use of pornography was, however, predictive of a decrease in their individual sexual satisfaction. Furthermore, viewing pornography as a means to enhance the sexual relationship or viewing it as degrading to women fails to mediate between pornography use and the sexual quality of the relationship (Poulsen et al., 2013). Likewise, having a high or low view of the acceptability of pornography fails to moderate women's reports of their partner's pornography use and their psychological distress (Szymanski, et al., 2015). In contrast, for men who rate the acceptability of utilizing pornography as high, increased pornography use is associated with an increase in relationship satisfaction (Maas et al., 2018). For men and women who view pornography as less acceptable, however, increased pornography use predicts a decrease in relationship satisfaction.

Symbolic Interaction Theory

The diversity of experiences (Kohut et al., 2017), theoretical paradigms (Leonhardt et al., 2019), and relationship outcomes (Perry 2017; Weinberg et al., 2010; Willoughby et al., 2016) that individuals experience in regards to pornography use may suggest that pornography holds different meanings for different individuals. This diversity of meaning that pornography holds for

individuals lends itself to studying pornography use through the lens of symbolic interaction theory (Blumer, 1969; White et al., 2018). Symbolic interaction theory posits that objects and events (e.g. pornography) do not have intrinsic meaning, but rather that humans ascribe meaning to objects and events during the process of interacting with them and with other people around them (Aksan et al., 2009). The way that an individual interacts with objects and other people will be influenced both by the meaning they attach to that object, as well as to the meaning that they attach to themselves (LaRossa & Reitzes, 1993).

This theory may be particularly useful in studying and understanding pornography use because it provides a paradigm through which to understand individual and nuanced perspectives related to pornography use. Some individuals view pornography as empowering or liberating in their sexual experiences (Weinberg et al., 2010), while others morally disapprove of pornography use (Volk et al., 2016). Acceptance of pornography use when using pornography is associated with increased relationship satisfaction for men (Maas et al., 2018), morally disapproving of pornography use is associated with viewing one's own pornography use as compulsive and distressing (Volk et al., 2016), and a couple's acceptance of pornography use predicts their individual pornography use (Brown et al., 2017). These examples suggest that the symbolic meaning that individuals attach to pornography use may influence its impact on their own experience with pornography and how their pornography use impacts their relationships. Indeed, symbolic interaction has been used as a theoretical paradigm when studying pornography previously (see Newstrom & Harris, 2016).

The Present Study

The belief that an individual holds in regard to pornography use, or the meaning they attach to it, may be considered a symbolic representation with which a person interacts. As the symbolic meaning that viewing pornography holds for different individuals varies, it may in turn

have an influence on how they interact with others and even themselves around its use. These differing interactions may be associated with the variety of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and communication patterns previously found to vary among those who use pornography (Leonhardt & Willoughby, 2019; Perry, 2017; Willoughby et al., 2016). The present study will involve an exploration of the association between an individual's beliefs surrounding pornography and its differential associations with their satisfaction in romantic relationships, their sexual satisfaction, and their use of active-empathic listening.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

The sample for the present study consisted of a subset of participants gathered as part of a larger research project. The original sample was obtained through a dual convenience sample and snowballing technique methodology. Five separate universities, located in the Western and Midwestern regions of the United States, comprised the pool from which the initial convenience sample was collected from. Students from the above described universities were invited to participate in the larger research project, to invite their romantic partners to participate in the survey, and to share the survey via social media. Students who participated in the survey and/or who opted to share the survey link were given extra credit, while students enrolled in the same classes who opted not to participate were offered an alternative activity that provided them an equivalent amount of extra credit. All participants, including those who entered the study and were not enrolled in university courses where extra credit was provided, were offered a chance to enter a drawing for a \$25 gift card, five of which were available.

Data for the research study detailed above was gathered using the online platform Qualtrics. Individuals who consented to participate in the survey were administered demographic questions, Likert-type questions, and open response qualitative questions. At the end of the survey, those who opted to be entered for the gift card were taken to a separate Qualtrics survey to enter their email addresses, entirely deidentifying answers to the research questions from the individuals who provided the responses.

The present study incorporated a portion of the qualitative analysis conducted by Shuler et al. (2021), the data of which was provided for the current analysis and which also comprised a sub-set of the above described sample. For the purposes of the present study, a selection of participants analyzed by Shuler et al. (2021) were included. Their analysis was conducted with a method informed by the thematic analysis procedure outlined by Braun and Clarke (2012). The participants of the present study comprised of those who provided answers to the qualitative question "In your own words how has pornography influenced your relationship and/or sexual satisfaction" who were coded as reporting beliefs that were positive, negative, or neutral towards pornography use, and who had a member of their couple relationship that had accessed pornography within the last 30 days.

Sample

The final sample consisted of N = 182 individual who were in romantic relationships and who had at least one member of their couple system who had used pornography within the last 30 days. Of the sample, 51.6% (n = 94) were female, 48.4% (n = 88) were male, 39% (n = 71) reported being married, 22.5% (n = 41) reported cohabiting with their partner, and 38.5% (n = 70) reporting being in a dating relationship without cohabiting. Length of time in the relationship ranged from 17.6% (n = 32) who reported being in a relationship less than one year to 2.7% (n = 5) who reported being in a relationship for more than 25 years with a sample mean of 5.18 years in the current relationship. The majority of the sample (79.1%) identified as White or Caucasian and the mean age of the sample was 24.86 years old.

Measures

Belief Regarding Pornography Use

Participant belief regarding pornography was analyzed as a categorical variable for the present study. The categorical codes that were used in the present analysis to represent participant

belief regarding pornography use were based on three of the overarching emergent themes reported in the data set analyzed by Shuler et al. (2021). The overarching emergent themes identified by Shuler et al. (2021) were "beneficial effects of pornography use," "detrimental effects of pornography use," "neither entirely beneficial or entirely detrimental effects of pornography use," "mixed effects of pornography use," and "difficult to code." For the present study, only participants whose responses were sorted into the first three themes, and who met the inclusion criteria of reporting pornography use within their dyadic relationship, were included for analysis. For the present study, the group of individuals who reported a belief that pornography use is beneficial for their relationships were termed the Pro-Pornography Beliefs (PPB) group, those who reported views that pornography use is detrimental for their relationships were termed the Anti-Pornography Beliefs (APB) group, and those who reported holding a belief that pornography use is neither beneficial or detrimental to their relationships were termed the Neutral Pornography Beliefs (NPB) group.

Couple Satisfaction

Couple satisfaction was measured utilizing the Couple Satisfaction Index-4 (CSI-4; Funk & Rogge, 2007), a 4-item Likert-type index measure. The CSI-4 was designed to be used as a brief (4 question) scale that highly correlates with longer measures of relationship satisfaction. The CSI-4 has been previously found to have a high internal consistency (α = .94; Funk & Rogge, 2007). The CSI-4 contains questions that either ask the participant to rate the degree of truth about a statement regarding their relationship – such as "I have a warm and comfortable relationship with my partner" – on a 6 point Likert-type scale ranging from not at all true (1) to completely true (6) or asks the participant to rank a dimension of their satisfaction (e.g. happiness in the relationship, how rewarding the relationship is, how satisfactory the relationship is) using a similar Likert-type scale. The scoring for the scale is relatively simple, involving a sum of the

scored items with higher scores representing higher levels of couple satisfaction and a score lower than 13.5 suggesting notable relationship distress (Funk & Rogge, 2007).

Sexual Satisfaction

Sexual satisfaction was measured using the contentment subscale of the Sexual Satisfaction Scale for Women (SSS-W; Meston & Trapnell, 2005). The SSS-W was developed to identify the degree of sexual satisfaction in a sample of women, and consists of 5 subscales. For the present study a single subscale, one measuring contentment in sexual satisfaction, was included and was provided to all participants. The contentment subscale of the SSS-W has previously demonstrated a moderately high internal consistency (α = .83). The contentment subscale of the SSS-W contains items that ask participants to rate their degree of agreement to six statements about their satisfaction with their sexual relationship ranging from 1, "strongly disagree," to 7, "strongly agree" in a Likert-type format. Participant scores can range from 6 to 42 on the subscale with two of the items being reverse scored and higher scores representing higher levels of sexual satisfaction (Meston & Trapnell, 2005).

Active-Empathic Listening

Active-Empathic listening was measured using the Active-Empathic Listening Scale (AELS; Bodie, 2011). The AELS was originally developed as a measure of empathic listening in a commercial context, but has been modified and found to be significantly corelated to multiple alternative measures of empathic listening in personal relationships. The AELS was found to load adequately on confirmatory factor analysis, and had relatively high ratings of internal consistency on two separate analyses ($\alpha = .86 \& \alpha = .94$; Bodie, 2011). The AELS measure three different facets of empathic listening, sensing what another person feels beyond verbal communication, cognitively and verbally processing another's words, and displaying verbal and nonverbal responsiveness. Scores obtained for each subscale are averaged, with higher averages

representing higher empathic listening, and an overall score for the full AELS scale can also be obtained. The AELS consists of a total of 11 items, instructing participants to rank how frequently they engage in a certain cognitive or relational behavior on a 6-point Likert-type scale ranging from never to very frequently.

Control Variables

Several items from the demographics portion of the survey were included as control variables. Previous studies have suggested possible differences in effects of pornography use based on gender (Maas et al., 2018; Perry, 2017) and Leonhardt et al., (2019) have suggested that pornography use may have differential impacts on short-term versus long term-relationships. Therefore, it was originally proposed that the present study would incorporate gender and length of participant relationship as control variables in the analysis. Participant relationship status (i.e. married, cohabiting, or dating) was also planned to be included as a control variable.

Plan of Analysis

To test for differences between groups of individuals who report differing beliefs regarding the impact of pornography use on their relationships (i.e. report beliefs about pornography use being beneficial, detrimental, or unrelated to the quality of their romantic relationship) and their couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active empathic listening, a MANCOVA analysis was conducted. Group membership – PPB, APB, and NPB – was utilized as the independent variables while couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening were analyzed as dependent variables. Additionally, participant gender, relationship status, and length of current relationship were planned to be added as control variables during the first phase of analysis. Results were examined to determine if differences between groups exist on the composite variable created in the analysis of the three dependent variables

After the initial MANCOVA was conducted, the next phase of the analysis consisted of three ANCOVA analyses in which the group differences were again utilized as an independent variable in an analysis to test for group differences between each of the three dependent variables separately. The first ANCOVA was conducted to test for the existence of differences between groups on couple satisfaction, the second was conducted to test for the existence of differences between groups on sexual satisfaction, and the third was conducted to test for the existence of differences between groups on active-empathic listening. In each of these tests, participant gender, relationship status, and relationship length were originally planned to be added as control variables.

The final phase planned for the present analysis hinged on the significance, or lack thereof, detected in the three ANCOVA tests. In the planned analysis, if the ANCOVA tests returned non-significant results, those tests would represent the terminus of the analysis phase of the study and a null hypothesis for each test would be accepted (i.e. it would be accepted that no differences between groups exist on levels of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening). Alternatively, it was planned that if significant differences existed between groups on any of the ANCOVA analyses, a third phase of analysis would begin in which follow up *t*-tests would be conducted to examine where and in what direction the difference in associations lay. In the plan of analysis, depending on the significance of findings in the second phase (i.e. the ANCOVA testing phase) of analysis, up to nine separate *t*-tests were planned, one for each possible combination of two group membership variables (as independent variables) on couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening respectively (as dependent variables). The hypotheses for each phase of the study were as follows.

Phase 1 Hypothesis

Hypothesis 1a, the hypothesis of phase 1 of the present analysis consisting of the MANCOVA test, was that a significant difference would exist between groups on their reports of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening.

Phase 2 Hypotheses

The hypotheses of phase 2 of the present analysis, the series of ANCOVA tests, were as follows.

Hypothesis 2a. Significant differences will exist between groups on couple satisfaction.

Hypothesis 2b. Significant differences will exist between groups on sexual satisfaction.

Hypothesis 2c. Significant differences will exist between groups on active-empathic listening.

Phase 3 Hypotheses

The hypotheses of phase 3 of the present analysis were planned to be explored only in the case that one or more of the three hypotheses of phase 2 of the analysis were confirmed. For each of the hypotheses listed below, it was assumed that a null hypothesis would be accepted in its place if the ANCOVA analysis preceding the *t*-tests utilized to explore the hypotheses was rejected for its relevant variables. In the plan of analysis, if any of the null hypotheses in phase 2 were to be rejected, and the ensuing *t*-tests conducted, the hypotheses of the relevant *t*-tests were planned to be as follows.

Hypothesis 3a. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on couple satisfaction than the APB group.

Hypothesis 3b. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on couple satisfaction than the NPB group.

Hypothesis 3c. The NPB group will have significantly higher scores on couple satisfaction than the APB group.

Hypothesis 3d. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on sexual satisfaction than the APB group.

Hypothesis 3e. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on sexual satisfaction than the NPB group.

Hypothesis 3f. The NPB group will have significantly higher scores on couple satisfaction than the APB group.

Hypothesis 3g. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on active-empathic listening than the APB group.

Hypothesis 3h. The PPB group will have significantly higher scores on active-empathic listening than the NPB group.

Hypothesis 3i. The NPB group will have significantly higher scores on active-empathic listening than the APB group.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Preliminary Analyses

Prior to running the analysis for phase 1 of the present study, missing data was examined in the data set, finding that 10 respondents of the 182 respondent sample left at least one survey answer blank, representing approximately 5% of the total sample. Further exploration revealed that missing data for individual variables represented less than 5% of responses for each variable, suggesting that a series mean substitution method for replacing missing data may be useful (Rubin et al., 2007). After proceeding with replacing missing data in the dataset with series mean substitution, a set of tests were run to clarify whether the assumptions underlying the MANCOVA and ANCOVA tests were met for the present sample. The assumptions tested included the assumption of the absence of multicollinearity in the dependent variables, normality of the distribution of dependent variable observations within the three groups of the independent variable, and homogeneity of variance in distributions of observations within the dependent variables. Additionally, analyses were conducted to test the hypothesized association between control variables and dependent variables, as well as to assess for whether the control variables.

Testing for Multicollinearity

To test the assumption of a lack of strong multicollinearity, a Pearson's correlation test

was run for all dependent variables. Couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening were all significantly correlated with one another ($p \le .001$). Correlations fell with the medium range for effect sizes (Cohen, 1992), ranging from r(180) = .24 for the association between sexual satisfaction and active-empathic listening to r(180) = .48 for couple satisfaction and sexual satisfaction. This suggests that for observations in the present sample the assumption of a lack of strong multicollinearity was met.

Testing for Normality of Distributions

To test the assumption of normally distributed observations in the dependent variables, factored by the grouping independent variable, the Kolmogorov–Smirnov (K–S) test was utilized. The null hypothesis – that variations from the normal distribution were not significantly different from zero – was accepted for the PPB group on scores of couple satisfaction, for all groups on scores for active-empathic listening, and for the APB group on scores of sexual satisfaction. For all other dependent variable observations factored by group membership, the assumption of normality was violated, with results ranging from D(97) = .14, p < .01 for the NPB group on couple satisfaction to D(39) = .16, p = .014 for the APB group on couple satisfaction. See Table 1 for full K–S test results. While the assumption of normally distributed data was violated for 4 out of the 9 dependent variable group distributions, the F statistic has been demonstrated to be a robust statistic in multiple circumstances, including when the smallest group within the sample represents at least 20% of the full sample (Donaldson, 1968; Glass et al., 1972). The smallest group in the present sample was the APB group (n = 39), which represented approximately 21% of the full sample. This suggests that, for the present sample, the F statistic may contain enough robustness to effectively manage the lack of normality in portions of the present dataset.

Testing for Homogeneity of Variance

To test for the assumption of homogeneity of variance between groups on the dependent variables, Levene's test was conducted on the dependent variables, factored by the grouping independent variable. Variance between groups were equal for each of the groups across the three dependent variables (F(2, 179) = 2.14, p > .05 for couple satisfaction, F(2, 179) = .96, p > .05 for sexual satisfaction, and F(2, 179) = 1.43, p > .05 for active empathic listening. Based on these findings, it was concluded that homogeneity of variance was present between the three groups on the dependent variables.

Analyzing Control Variable Associations

It was hypothesized that participant gender, relationship status (i.e. dating, cohabiting, or married), and length of time in the present relationship would be related to a portion of any variations in the dependent variables and that group membership (the independent variable) would be unrelated to variance in the proposed control variables. To test this, a series of analyses were conducted on the relationship between group membership and gender, relationships status, and length of time in the relationship, and the three proposed covariates with the dependent variables.

Relationship Between Independent Variables and Proposed Control Variables. To test the relationship between participant group and participant gender, a chi-square test was conducted. The relationship between participant group and participant gender was non-significant, X^2 (2, N = 182) = .89, p = .64, indicating that adding it as a covariate in the MANCOVA and ANCOVA analyses may be appropriate. Participant group membership and relationship status was likewise analyzed using a chi-square test, resulting in a non-significant finding, X^2 (4, N = 8.917) = .89, p = .06, meeting the assumption of independence of this control variable from the independent variable. Finally, an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to test the association between group membership and length of time in the participant's present

relationship. No significant relationship was identified, F(2, 179) = .32, p > .05, suggesting that the assumption of independence of this control variable and the independent variable was met.

Relationship Between Proposed Control Variables and Dependent Variables. To test the assumption that control variables were indeed related to the study dependent variables, another set of analyses were conducted for each of the proposed covariates and the dependent variables. To test the association between participant gender and couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic, three intendent sample, two-tailed t-tests were conducted. For couple satisfaction, no significant difference was detected for participant gender, t(180) = .66, p = .51, or for sexual satisfaction and participant gender, t(180) = .07, p = .95. However, a significant difference was detected between men and women on active-empathic listening, t(156.202) = 2.5, p = .013 (equal variance for this t-test was not assumed, based on a significant finding of a Levene's test for equality of variance F(1, 180) = 11.127, p < .05).

To test the assumption that participant relationship status was related to the dependent variables, three ANOVA tests were conducted. No significant relationship was detected for participant relationship status and couple satisfaction or active-empathic listening (F(2, 179) = 1.43, p > .05 and F(2, 179) = 2.59, p > .05 respectively), but a significant association was identified for participant relationship status and sexual satisfaction, F(2, 179) = 5.95, p < .05. To test the final assumption of covariance of proposed control variables and dependent variables, a Pearson correlation analysis was conducted for participant length of time in relationship and the dependent variables. No significant associations were detected for couple satisfaction (r(180) = -.06, p = .37), sexual satisfaction (r(180) = -.09, p = .24), or active-empathic listening (r(180) = -.07, p = .32).

The assumption of independence of independent variables and originally proposed control variables was met, however the assumption of association between covariates and

dependent variables were not met for length of current participant relationship. As the assumptions of covariance between the other two originally proposed control variables were partially met, it was determined that participant gender and relationship status would be included in further analysis including the primary MANCOVA and ANCOVA tests of the present study. Length of participant current relationship, however, would be dropped from future analyses, based on the violation of the assumption of its covariance with the study dependent variables.

Testing for Homogeneity of Regression Slopes

The final assumption tested prior to the primary analyses of the present study was the test for the assumption of homogeneity of regression slopes of the dependent and covariate variables between the PPB group, APB group, and NPB group. The analyses for homogeneity of regression slopes resulted in the following findings; F(2) = 1.93, p > .05 and F(2) = .33, p > .05 for couple satisfaction multiplied by participant sex and couple satisfaction multiplied by relationship status respectively, F(2) = .4, p > .05 and F(2) = .93, p > .05 for sexual satisfaction multiplied by participant sex and sexual satisfaction multiplied by relationship status respectively, and F(2) = 1.15, p > .05 and F(2) = 1.36, p > .05 for active-empathic listening multiplied by participant sex and active-empathic listening multiplied by relationship status respectively. As all results were non-significant, it was accepted that the null hypothesis – that there was no significant difference in regression slopes for the dependent variables within the three groups while accounting for the covariates – held for this sample.

Phase 1 Analysis

To test hypothesis 1a, that there will be a significant difference between groups of individuals with different beliefs regarding pornography use on their couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening as a composite variable, a MANCOVA test was run. Participant group (PPB, APB, and NPB) was entered as an independent variable, couple

satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening were loaded as a dependent variable, and participant gender and relationship status were entered as covariates. Using Pillai's trace, there was no significance detected for either covariate or the independent variable after controlling for the covariates, F(6, 352) = 1.13, p > .05 (see Table 2 for results of covariate influence on dependent variables). Based on these results, hypothesis 1a was rejected, and the study shifted to phase 2 of the analysis.

Phase 2 Analyses

To test hypotheses 2a through 2c, three ANCOVA analyses were conducted, testing the association between participant group and each of the three dependent variables (i.e. couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening) respectively and entering participant sex and relationship status as covariates in each case. For couple satisfaction, the ANCOVA test resulted in non-significant results, F(2, 177) = 1.02, p > .05, leading to the rejection of hypothesis 2a. Likewise, no significant difference was detected between groups for sexual satisfaction, (F(2, 177) = 2.22, p > .05, or for active-empathic listening F(2, 177) = 1.48, p > .05. While significant effects were identified for the covariate relationship status on sexual satisfaction, F(1, 177) = 4.34, p < .05, and for the covariate gender on active-empathic listening F(1, 177) = 5.56, p < .05, the lack of significance of the association between the independent variable and the dependent variable after controlling for the covariates led to hypotheses 2b and 2c likewise being rejected (see Table 3). Based on the plan of analysis, these rejections of the hypotheses represents the terminus of the analysis phase of the study, considering that any rejections of the null hypothesis based on significant results of any subsequent *t*-tests would have an increased likelihood of representing Type I errors.

Post-hoc Analysis

Series mean substitution introduces the possibility of bias into the present data set by reducing the overall variability in tested participant responses. While the overall data substituted with mean values was small (less than 5% of each variable with missing data), some of the data missing appeared to be missing not completely at random. Specifically, six respondents left the questions from the SSS-W scale blank, while the rest of the responses containing missing data were scattered across the dataset with single item response gaps. To clarify the possible influence of bias on the dataset, a post-hoc analysis was conducted to test the results of the analysis against an analysis conducted using a listwise deletion method. The listwise deletion method also contains the possibility of biasing the dataset (Rubin et al., 2007) by removing respondents from the analysis, and in this case may have removed something unique contributed especially by individuals who chose not to respond to questions on sexual satisfaction. As such, the listwise deletion method was used primarily as a point of comparison to the mean substitution method to clarify how bias may have impacted findings rather than as a primary form of analysis to test hypotheses. The analyses run using the listwise deletion method for missing data mimicked the results reported above for both the MANCOVA and ANCOVA tests, implying that for the present sample, the series mean substitution method did not dilute power in a manner that listwise deletion would have corrected, and increasing the confidence that the acceptance of the null hypotheses of the ANCOVA analyses does not represent Type II errors.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

The associations between pornography use and factors related to relationship wellbeing are complex, and sometimes appear to be contradictory (e.g. Leonhardt & Willoughby, 2019 compared to Perry et al., 2017). The present study was conducted to add to the literature on the ways in which pornography use interacts with relationship wellbeing factors, particularly by examining couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening as they vary among individuals who experience pornography use within the context of their romantic relationships and who hold varying beliefs about the effect of pornography use on relationships. Symbolic interaction (Blumer, 1969; LaRossa & Reitzes 1993) was utilized as an underpinning theory to the analysis, as previous research has suggested individuals hold varying beliefs about pornography (Shuler et al., 2021) and that in some circumstances an individual's beliefs about pornography use may be related to their relationship experience (Maas et al., 2018).

The hypotheses of the present study were not supported. Specifically, it was found that no significant difference existed between groups of individuals with varying beliefs about pornography use on a composite variable of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening. Furthermore, when examining the differences between groups of individuals with varying beliefs about pornography use and each dependent variable, it was found that no statistically significant relationship existed between group membership and outcome variables

after controlling for the covariates of gender and relationship status. While group membership and the outcome variables were unrelated, in the case of sexual satisfaction the covariate relationship status was significantly related to variations in participant sexual satisfaction. For active-empathic listening, the control variable gender was related to the variance identified in that skill.

These findings fit into the broader literature on pornography use and romantic relationships in a unique way. In some of the previous literature on the relationship between the meaning that pornography use holds for individuals and relationship outcomes, it has been found that the meaning pornography use holds for an individual fails to explain variations in individuals on their experience with pornography. For example, Poulsen et al., (2013) found that believing pornography use was degrading or enhancing did not mediate the relationship between pornography use and relationship factors. The present findings support the lack of ability for belief about pornography use, particularly as it was captured and represented in the present analysis, to explain variance in relationship outcomes. This is in contrast to the findings of Maas et al., (2018) who found that men who believe pornography use is beneficial experience greater sexual satisfaction.

The lack of significance in the findings of the present study related to belief and pornography use is telling. In the present sample, believing that pornography use is damaging to one's relationship was not related to any difference in couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, or active-empathic listening compared to those who believe it benefits their relationships. This implies that belief alone is not sufficient to explain why some individual who utilize pornography report experiencing it as beneficial while others who utilize it report experiencing it as detrimental. In that sense, the present findings perhaps fit best within the research that identifies that many individuals do not identify pornography use as impactful on their relationship (Kohut et

al., 2017; Shuler et al., 2021) which is reflective of the opinion of the majority of respondents in the present sample.

The relationship between the covariates of gender and the dependent variables of the present analysis fit within the broader research on pornography use. Gender has been found to be a meaningful variable in understanding the relationship between pornography use and couple outcomes in multiple samples (Muusses et al., 2015). Relationship status has been analyzed as a factor in predicting awareness of pornography use, acceptance of pornography use, and frequency of pornography use previously (Carroll et al., 2017), though it has less often been examined as a covariate in analyzing group differences and their relationship outcomes among individuals who use pornography. The results of the present sample suggest that continuing to use relationship status and gender as control variables may be useful for future research. Finally, relationship length was unrelated to relational outcome variables of the present study, in contrast to the hypothesized changing role of pornography use as relationships progress proposed by Leonhardt et al., (2019). The sample of the present analysis was, however, skewed towards young adulthood and relationships within the first 7 years of formation, therefore it could be that too little variability in length of relationship existed in the present sample to detect any effect of length of relationship if it exists.

Limitations and Future Directions

It is important to acknowledge a number of limitations to the present study that should be considered when interpreting the results and considering its implications. The first limitation is in generalizability. The sample is fairly homogenous, with a large majority, nearly 80%, being white and a large portion of the sample skewed to early adulthood. No information on sexual orientation was collected from the present sample, and gender was gathered as a binary variable which does not allow for gathering fully accurate data regarding the gender of participants of the sample. In

terms of design, as this study is cross-sectional, no causal relationships can be inferred from the results of the covariate associations with couple outcomes. Furthermore, the distributions of observations in the dependent variables were not normal, and while the *F* statistic tends to be robust in many circumstances (Reid & Kafka, 2014), the lack of normality may bias the data and so should be considered when interpreting the results, and non-parametric tests should be considered for future analyses encountering the same violations of normality.

A final limitation of the data, and a point which could inform future research, is that there are no questions about the specific frequency, type, or modality (individual or joint use) of pornography use. Because of this no inferences can be made about how these factors may influence the relationship between pornography use and relationship outcomes. Any such moderating factors, or potential mediating variables, cannot be ascertained from the present variables, and as type of pornography (Fritz & Paul, 2017), frequency of use (Perry et al., 2017), and individual versus partnered use (Willoughby & Leonhardt, 2018) have all been found to be related to how one experiences pornography use they are important factors to consider in future research. Future research would also be benefited by including longitudinal study designs, as much of the research conducted on pornography use has been cross-sectional (Newstrom & Harris, 2016). Furthermore, it is important to note that the present findings do not imply that participants had non-meaningful variety in the couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, or their empathic listening, or that pornography use is not related to these outcomes. In fact, results from the preliminary correlational analysis suggest that meaningful differences do exist within these participants on these variables. What the findings imply is that belief regarding pornography use is not a useful sorter in differentiating between individuals on their experiences of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening.

Conclusion

Overall, the findings of the present analysis reflect the complex and sometimes contradictory state of the overall field of research on pornography use and romantic relationships (Newstrom & Harris, 2016), while standing against evidence that belief regarding pornography use is related to a person's experience with pornography use, or that believing pornography use is beneficial for individuals who utilize it is related to increased or decreased couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, or active-empathic listening. This, in turn, calls into question the utility of utilizing symbolic interaction theory (Blumer, 1969; LaRossa & Reitzes 1993) in future research on the relationship between pornography use and relationship outcomes. While it could be that a person's symbolic meaning attached to their use of pornography may impact their experience with it, their belief alone does not appear to distinguish them among others with differing beliefs on other facets of their couple relationship.

A unique contribution of the present study is that it utilizes a distinctive design in answering questions regarding the associations between belief, pornography use, and relationship outcomes. It utilizes a coding system that was originated in a qualitative analysis that gave participants the freedom to express their views regarding pornography as opposed to overlaying a prescribed set of beliefs for the participants to choose from. Furthermore, the primary variable of interest in the questions asked in the present study relate to an individuals' belief about pornography use, rather than regarding pornography use directly. This data does not provide support for or contradict findings about the *use* of pornography and relationship outcomes *per se*; it elucidates a lack of differences between individuals who experience pornography use within the context of their relationship and who also have varying beliefs about pornography use.

This study leaves important questions to be explored in future research. If belief regarding pornography use does not distinguish individuals on their experience of couple satisfaction, sexual satisfaction, and active-empathic listening, what factors are related to the variations observed in previous research among individuals who utilize pornography? If there are

ways in which the symbolic meaning of pornography use for an individual is related to their experience with it, where are these variations observable? Future research can benefit from the answers identified in the present analysis by refining what factors are examined in the relationship between pornography use and couple relationship outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Aksan, N., Kasack, B., Aydın, M., & Demirbuken, S. (2009). Symbolic interaction theory. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 1(1), 902-904. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2009.01.160
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Ashton, S., McDonald, K., & Kirkman, M. (2018). Women's experiences of pornography: A systematic review of research using qualitative methods. The Journal of Sex Research, 55(3), 334-347.
- Astle, S., Leonhardt, N., & Willoughby, B. (2020). Home base: Family of origin factors and the debut of vaginal sex, anal sex, oral sex, masturbation, and pornography use in a national sample of adolescents. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *57*(9), 1089-1099.
- Attwood, F., Smith, C., & Barker, M. (2018). 'I'm just curious and still exploring myself': Young people and pornography. *new media & society*, 20(10), 3738-3759.
- Blais-Lecours, S., Vaillancourt-Morel, M.-P., Sabourin, S., & Godbout, N. (2016).
 Cyberpornography: Time use, perceived addiction, sexual functioning, and sexual satisfaction. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 19(11), 649–655.
 doi:10.1089/cyber.2016.0364
- Blumer, H. (1969). Symbolic Interactionism. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.

- Bodie, G. D. (2011). The Active-Empathic Listening Scale (AELS): Conceptualization and evidence of validity within the interpersonal domain. *Communication Quarterly*, *59*(3), 277-295.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2012) Thematic analysis. In Cooper, H. (Ed.), *The Handbook of Research Methods in Psychology*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Bridges, A. J., & Morokoff, P. J. (2011). Sexual media use and relational satisfaction in heterosexual couples. *Personal Relationships*, *18*(4), 562-585. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2010.01328.x
- Brown, C. C., Carroll, J. S., Yorgason, J. B., Busby, D. M., Willoughby, B. J., & Larson, J. H. (2017). A common-fate analysis of pornography acceptance, use, and sexual satisfaction among heterosexual married couples. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46(2), 575-584.
- Butler, M. H., Pereyra, S. A., Draper, T. W., Leonhardt, N. D., & Skinner, K. B. (2018).
 Pornography use and loneliness: A bidirectional recursive model and pilot investigation. *Journal of sex & marital therapy*, 44(2), 127-137.
- Campbell, L., & Kohut, T. (2017). The use and effects of pornography in romantic relationships.

 Current Opinion in Psychology, 13, 6-10.
- Carroll, J. S., Busby, D. M., Willoughby, B. J., & Brown, C. C. (2017). The porn gap:

 Differences in men's and women's pornography patterns in couple relationships. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, *16*(2), 146-163.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2016.1238796

- Carvalheira, A., Træen, B., & Stulhofer, A. (2015). Masturbation and pornography use among coupled heterosexual men with decreased sexual desire: How many roles of masturbation? *Journal of sex & marital therapy*, 41(6), 626-635.
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. Psychological bulletin, 112(1), 155.
- Cramer, D., & Jowett, S. (2010). Perceived empathy, accurate empathy and relationship satisfaction in heterosexual couples. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 27(3), 327-349.
- Daspe, M. È., Vaillancourt-Morel, M. P., Lussier, Y., Sabourin, S., & Ferron, A. (2018). When pornography use feels out of control: The moderation effect of relationship and sexual satisfaction. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 44(4), 343-353. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2017.1405301
- Donaldson, T. S. (1968). Robustness of the F-test to errors of both kinds and the correlation between the numerator and denominator of the F-ratio. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *63*(322), 660-676.
- Escoffier, J. (2014). Pornography, Perversity and the Sexual Revolution. In *Sexual Revolutions* (pp. 203-218). Palgrave Macmillan, London
- Ferron, A., Lussier, Y., Sabourin, S., & Brassard, A. (2016). The role of internet pornography use and cyber infidelity in the associations between personality, attachment, and couple and sexual satisfaction. *Social Networking*, *6*(1), 1-18. doi:10.4236/sn.2017.61001
- Funk, J.L., & Rogge, R.D. (2007). Testing the Ruler with Item Response Theory: Increasing Precision of Measurement for Relationship Satisfaction with the Couples Satisfaction Index. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21, 572-583.

- Ford, J. J., Durtschi, J. A., & Franklin, D. L. (2012). Structural therapy with a couple battling pornography addiction. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 40(4), 336-348. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2012.685003
- Foubert, J. D., Brosi, M. W., & Bannon, R. S. (2011). Pornography viewing among fraternity men: Effects on bystander intervention, rape myth acceptance and behavioral intent to commit sexual assault. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 18(4), 212-231.
- Fritz, N., & Paul, B. (2017). From orgasms to spanking: A content analysis of the agentic and objectifying sexual scripts in feminist, for women, and mainstream pornography. *Sex Roles*, 77(9), 639-652.
- García-Favaro, L. (2015). 'Porn Trouble' On the Sexual Regime and Travels of Postfeminist Biologism. *Australian Feminist Studies*, *30*(86), 366-376.
- Glass, G. V., Peckham, P. D., & Sanders, J. R. (1972). Consequences of failure to meet assumptions underlying the fixed effects analyses of variance and covariance. *Review of educational research*, 42(3), 237-288.
- Gwinn, A. M., Lambert, N. M., Fincham, F. D., & Maner, J. K. (2013). Pornography, relationship alternatives, and intimate extradyadic behavior. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4(6), 699-704. doi:10.1177/1948550613480821
- Harper, C., & Hodgins, D. C. (2016). Examining correlates of problematic Internet pornography use among university students. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, *5*(2), 179–191. doi:10.1556/2006.5.2016.022
- Hiew, D. N., Halford, W. K., Van de Vijver, F. J., & Liu, S. (2016). Communication and relationship satisfaction in Chinese, Western, and intercultural Chinese–Western couples. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(2), 193

- Jafarzadeh Fadaki, S. M., & Amani, P. (2015). Relationship of love and marital satisfaction with pornography among married university students in Birjand, Iran. *Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health*, 17(5), 240-246.
- Kohut, T., Balzarini, R. N., Fisher, W. A., & Campbell, L. (2018). Pornography's associations with open sexual communication and relationship closeness vary as a function of dyadic patterns of pornography use within heterosexual relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *35*(4), 655-676.
- Kohut, T., Fisher, W. A., & Campbell, L. (2017). Perceived effects of pornography on the couple relationship: Initial findings of open-ended, participant-informed, "bottom-up" research. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46(2), 585-602. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0838-8.
- Łada, A., & Kaźmierczak, M. (2019). Negative arousability and relationship satisfaction: The mediating role of empathy. *Roczniki Psychologiczne*, 22(1).
- Lambert, N. M., Negash, S., Stillman, T. F., Olmstead, S. B., & Fincham, F. D. (2012). A love that doesn't last: Pornography consumption and weakened commitment to one's romantic partner. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *31*(4), 410-438.
- LaRossa, R., & Reitzes, D. C. (2009). Symbolic interactionism and family studies. In *Sourcebook of family theories and methods* (pp. 135-163). Plenum Press.
- Leonhardt, N. D., Spencer, T. J., Butler, M. H., & Theobald, A. C. (2019). An organizational framework for sexual media's influence on short-term versus long-term sexual quality. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(8), 2233-2249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1209-4

- Leonhardt, N. D., & Willoughby, B. J. (2019). Pornography, provocative sexual media, and their differing associations with multiple aspects of sexual satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *36*(2), 618-641. doi: 10.1177/0265407517739162
- Maas, M. K., Vasilenko, S. A., & Willoughby, B. J. (2018). A dyadic approach to pornography use and relationship satisfaction among heterosexual couples: The role of pornography acceptance and anxious attachment. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *55*(6), 772-782.
- Meston, C., & Trapnell, P. (2005). OUTCOMES ASSESSMENT: Development and Validation of a Five-Factor Sexual Satisfaction and Distress Scale for Women: The Sexual Satisfaction Scale for Women (SSS-W). *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *2*(1), 66-81.
- Miller, D. J., McBain, K. A., Li, W. W., & Raggatt, P. T. (2019). Pornography, preference for porn-like sex, masturbation, and men's sexual and relationship satisfaction. *Personal Relationships*, 26(1), 93-113.
- Muusses, L. D., Kerkhof, P., & Finkenauer, C. (2015). Internet pornography and relationship quality: A longitudinal study of within and between partner effects of adjustment, sexual satisfaction and sexually explicit internet material among newly-weds. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 45, 77-84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.077
- Newstrom, N. P., & Harris, S. M. (2016). Pornography and couples: What does the research tell us? *Contemporary Family Therapy*, *38*(4), 412-423.
- Pariera, K. L. (2015). Perceived effects of instructional pornography on the self, partner, and others. *Sexual and relationship therapy*, *30*(3), 385-400.
- Parvez, Z. F. (2006). The labor of pleasure: How perceptions of emotional labor impact women's enjoyment of pornography. *Gender & Society*, 20(5), 605-631.

- Perry, S. L. (2017). Does viewing pornography reduce marital quality over time? Evidence from longitudinal data. *Archives of Sexual behavior*, 46(2), 549-559.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0770-y
- Poulsen, F. O., Busby, D. M., & Galovan, A. M. (2013). Pornography use: Who uses it and how it is associated with couple outcomes. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50(1), 72-83. doi: 10.1080/00224499.2011.648027
- Rasmussen, K. (2016). A historical and empirical review of pornography and romantic relationships: Implications for family researchers. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 8(2), 173-191. doi:10.1111/jftr.12141
- Reid, R. C., & Kafka, M. P. (2014). Controversies about hypersexual disorder and the DSM-5. *Current Sexual Health Reports*, *6*(4), 259-264.
- Resch, M. N., & Alderson, K. G. (2014). Female partners of men who use pornography: Are honesty and mutual use associated with relationship satisfaction? *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 40(5), 410-424. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2012.751077
- Rothman, E. F., Kaczmarsky, C., Burke, N., Jansen, E., & Baughman, A. (2015). "Without porn... I wouldn't know half the things I know now": A qualitative study of pornography use among a sample of urban, low-income, black and Hispanic youth. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 52(7), 736-746.
- Rubin, L. H., Witkiewitz, K., Andre, J. S., & Reilly, S. (2007). Methods for handling missing data in the behavioral neurosciences: Don't throw the baby rat out with the bath water. *Journal of Undergraduate Neuroscience Education*, *5*(2), A71.
- Scarcelli, C. M. (2015). 'It is disgusting, but...': adolescent girls' relationship to internet pornography as gender performance. *Porn Studies*, *2*(2-3), 237-249.

- Shuler, J., Brosi, M., Spencer, T., & Hubler, D. (2021). Pornography and Romantic

 Relationships: A Qualitative Examination of Individual Experiences. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 1-16.
- Staley, C., & Prause, N. (2013). Erotica viewing effects on intimate relationships and self/partner evaluations. *Archives of sexual behavior*, 42(4), 615-624.
- Stewart, D. N., & Szymanski, D. M. (2012). Young adult women's reports of their male romantic partner's pornography use as a correlate of their self-esteem, relationship quality, and sexual satisfaction. *Sex Roles*, 67(5), 257-271.
- Szymanski, D. M., Feltman, C. E., & Dunn, T. L. (2015). Male partners' perceived pornography use and women's relational and psychological health: The roles of trust, attitudes, and investment. *Sex Roles*, 73(5-6), 187-199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0518-5
- Taylor, K. (2020). Nosology and metaphor: How pornography viewers make sense of pornography addiction. *Sexualities*, 23(4), 609-629.
- Træen, B., & Daneback, K. (2013). The use of pornography and sexual behaviour among

 Norwegian men and women of differing sexual orientation. *Sexologies*, 22(2), e41-e48.
- Vogels, E. A. (2019, September 9). Millennials stand out for their technology use, but older generations also embrace digital life. Retrieved October 26, 2019, from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/09/09/us-generations-technology-use/.
- Volk, F., Thomas, J., Sosin, L., Jacob, V., & Moen, C. (2016). Religiosity, developmental context, and sexual shame in pornography users: A serial mediation model. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 23(2-3), 244-259.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10720162.2016.1151391

- Voon, V., Mole, T. B., Banca, P., Porter, L., Morris, L., Mitchell, S., ... & Irvine, M. (2014).
 Neural correlates of sexual cue reactivity in individuals with and without compulsive sexual behaviours. *PloS one*, 9(7), e102419. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102419
- Weinberg, M. S., Williams, C. J., Kleiner, S., & Irizarry, Y. (2010). Pornography, normalization, and empowerment. *Archives of sexual behavior*, *39*(6), 1389-1401.
- White, J. M., Martin, T. F., & Adamsons, K. (2018). *Family theories: An introduction*. Sage Publications.
- Willoughby, B., & Busby, D. (2016). In the eye of the beholder: Exploring variations in the perceptions of pornography. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *53*(6), 678-688. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2015.1013601
- Willoughby, B. J., Carroll, J. S., Busby, D. M., & Brown, C. C. (2016). Differences in pornography use among couples: Associations with satisfaction, stability, and relationship processes. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *45*(1), 145-158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-015-0562-9
- Willoughby, B. J., & Leonhardt, N. D. (2018). Behind closed doors: Individual and joint pornography use among romantic couples. *The Journal of Sex Research*.
- Wright, P. J. (2013). US males and pornography, 1973–2010: Consumption, predictors, correlates. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50(1), 60-71.
- Wright, P. J., Tokunaga, R. S., Kraus, A., & Klann, E. (2017). Pornography consumption and satisfaction: A meta-analysis. *Human Communication Research*, *43*(3), 315-343. https://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12108

APPENDICES

Table 1

Kolmogorov–Smirnov Test of Normality

Grouping Variable	D Statistic	Degrees of Freedom				
Couple Satisfaction						
PPB	.13	46				
APB	.16*	39				
NPB	.14**	97				
	Sexual Satisfaction					
PPB	.16**	46				
APB	.12	39				
NPB	.12**	97				
Active-Empathic Listening						
PPB	.07	46				
APB	.13	39				
NPB	.07	97				

^{*}*p* < .05

^{**}*p* < .01

 Table 2

 Results of Multivariate Analysis of Covariance Using Pillai's Trace

Effect Variable	F Statistic	Hypothesis df	Error <i>df</i>
Gender	1.96	3	175
Relationship Status	1.75	3	175
Group Membership	1.13	6	352

Note: No significant relationships were detected

Table 3Results of The Analyses of Covariance

Effect Variable	df model effect	df residuals	F-ratio			
Couple Satisfaction						
Gender	1	177	.33			
Relationship Status	1	177	1.67			
Group Membership	2	177	1.02			
Sexual Satisfaction						
Gender	1	177	.01			
Relationship Status	1	177	4.34*			
Group Membership	2	177	2.22			
Active-empathic Listening						
Gender	1	177	5.56*			
Relationship Status	1	177	2.01			
Group Membership	2	177	1.48			

^{*}*p* < .05

VITA

Jordan Shuler

Candidate for the Degree of Master of Science

Thesis: BELIEF ABOUT PORNOGRAPHY USE AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH

COUPLE SATISFACTION, SEXUAL SATISFACTION, AND ACTIVE-

EMPATHIC LISTENING: AN EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS

Major Field: Human Development and Family Science

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Human Development and Family Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2021.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Family Studies at Weber State University, Ogden, Utah in 2018.

Publication:

Shuler, J., Brosi, M., Spencer, T., & Hubler, D. (2021). Pornography and Romantic Relationships: A Qualitative Examination of Individual Experiences. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 1-16.

Experience:

Graduate Research Assistant, Oklahoma State University, Aug. 2019 – Present

Professional Memberships:

National Council on Family Relationships (NCFR), Fall, 2020 – Present

American Association of Marriage and Family Therapy (AAMFT) Fall, 2019 – Present